Pan Malaysia Holdings Berhad

Company No: 95469 - W

LAPORAN TAHUNAN 2013 ANNUAL REPORT

CONTENTS

Notice of Meeting	3
Corporate Information	5
Profile of Directors	6
Statement on Corporate Governance	8
Directors' Responsibilities in respect of Financial Statements	15
Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control	16
Other Information	19
Report of the Audit Committee	20
Chairman's Statement	23
Group Financial Highlights	25
Directors' Report	26
Statement by Directors	30
Statutory Declaration	30
Independent Auditors' Report	31
Statements of Financial Position	33
Statements of Profit or Loss And Other Comprehensive Income	35
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity	37
Statement of Changes in Equity	38
Statements of Cash Flows	39
Notes to the Financial Statements	41
Properties Owned by the Group	110
Analysis of Shareholdings	111
Form of Proxy	

This page is intentionally left blank.

Pan Malaysia Holdings Berhad 95469-W Incorporated in Malaysia

NOTICE OF MEETING

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Thirty-First Annual General Meeting of the Company will be held at Rembau Room, Corus Paradise resort Port Dickson, 3.5km, Jalan Pantai, 71000 Port Dickson, Negeri Sembilan Darul Khusus on Thursday, 19 June 2014 at 4.30 p.m. for the following purposes:-

As Ordinary Business

- 1. To receive the audited financial statements together with the Reports of the Directors and Auditors thereon for the financial year ended 31 December 2013.
- 2. To approve Directors' fees of RM120,000.

Resolution 1

- To consider and, if thought fit, pass a resolution that pursuant to Section 129(6) of the Companies Act, 1965, Mr Ooi Boon Leong be re-appointed as Director of the Company to hold office until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company.
 Resolution 2
- To re-elect Dr Wong Hong Meng, who is retiring in accordance with Article 111 of the Company's Articles of Association.
 Resolution 3
- 5. To re-appoint Messrs BDO as auditors of the Company and to authorize the Directors to fix their remuneration. Resolution 4

As Special Business

To consider and, if thought fit, pass the following resolution:-

- 6. Ordinary Resolution
 - Proposed authority to allot and issue shares pursuant to Section 132D of the Companies Act, 1965

"THAT pursuant to Section 132D of the Companies Act, 1965 and subject to the approval of the relevant authorities, the Directors be and are hereby authorized to allot and issue shares in the Company at any time until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting or until the expiration of the period within which the next Annual General Meeting is required by law to be held, whichever is the earlier and upon such terms and conditions and for such purposes as the Directors may, in their absolute discretion, deem fit, provided always that the aggregate number of shares to be issued pursuant to this resolution does not exceed ten per centum (10%) of the issued and paid-up share capital of the Company for the time being." **Resolution 5**

7. To transact any other business of which due notice shall have been received.

By order of the Board

Soo-Hoo Siew Hoon Lee Chik Siong Joint Company Secretaries

Kuala Lumpur 28 May 2014 Notes:-

- 1. Only a member whose name appears on the Record of Depositors as at 9 June 2014 shall be entitled to attend and vote at the meeting or appoint proxies to attend and/or vote on his or her behalf. A member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at a meeting of the Company, or at a meeting of any class of members of the Company, shall be entitled to appoint any person as his proxy to attend and vote instead of the member at the meeting. There shall be no restriction as to the qualification of the proxy.
- 2. A member entitled to attend and vote shall not be entitled to appoint more than two proxies to attend and vote at the same meeting. Where a member is an authorized nominee as defined under the Securities Industry (Central Depositories) Act, 1991, it may appoint one proxy only in respect of each securities account it holds with ordinary shares of the Company standing to the credit of the said securities account. Where a member of the Company is an exempt authorized nominee which holds ordinary shares of the Company for multiple beneficial owners in one securities account ("omnibus account"), there is no limit to the number of proxies which the exempt authorized nominee may appoint in respect of each omnibus account it holds. An exempt authorized nominee refers to an authorized nominee defined under the Securities Industry (Central Depositories) Act, 1991 which is exempted from the compliance with the provisions of subsection 25A(1) of the Securities Industry (Central Depositories) Act, 1991.
- 3. Where a member and/or an exempt authorized nominee, appoint two or more proxies, the appointments shall be invalid unless he specifies the proportions of his shareholdings to be represented by each proxy in the instrument appointing the proxies.
- 4. The Form of Proxy shall be in writing under the hand of the appointor or his attorney duly authorized in writing or if such appointor is a corporation, under its common seal or under the hand of the attorney.
- 5. The Form of Proxy must be deposited at the registered office of the Company at Unit 3, 191, Jalan Ampang, 50450 Kuala Lumpur not less than 48 hours before the time appointed for holding the meeting or any adjournment hereof.

EXPLANATORY NOTE ON SPECIAL BUSINESS

The Ordinary Resolution proposed under item 6 is a renewal of the general authority for the Directors to issue shares pursuant to Section 132D of the Companies Act, 1965. If passed, it will empower the Directors of the Company, from the date of the above Annual General Meeting until the next Annual General Meeting to allot and issue shares in the Company up to and not exceeding in total ten per centum (10%) of the issued and paid-up share capital of the Company for the time being for such purposes as they consider would be in the interests of the Company. This authority will expire at the next Annual General Meeting of the Company, unless revoked or varied at a general meeting.

The Company has not issued any new shares under the general authority which was approved at the Thirtieth Annual General Meeting held on 20 June 2013 and which will lapse at the conclusion of the Thirty-First Annual General Meeting to be held on 19 June 2014.

The general authority to issue shares will allow the Company to take advantage of any strategic opportunities, including but not limited to, issuance of new shares for purpose of funding investment project(s), working capital and/ or acquisitions which require new shares to be allotted and issued speedily and would also save the cost involved in convening a general meeting to approve such issuance of shares.

CORPORATE INFORMATION

Board of Directors

Ooi Boon Leong, *Chairman* Wong Nyen Faat Dr Wong Hong Meng Farizon binti Ibrahim

Joint Company Secretaries

Soo-Hoo Siew Hoon Lee Chik Siong

Auditors

BDO (AF: 0206) Chartered Accountants

Principal Bankers

Affin Islamic Bank Berhad AmBank (M) Berhad Malayan Banking Berhad

Registrar

Tricor Investor Services Sdn Bhd Level 17, The Gardens North Tower, Mid Valley City, Lingkaran Syed Putra, 59200 Kuala Lumpur Tel No: 03-22643883 Fax No: 03-22821886

Registered Office

Unit 3, 191, Jalan Ampang, 50450 Kuala Lumpur Tel No: 03-21487696 Fax No: 03-21445209 Website: www.pmholdings.com.my

PROFILE OF DIRECTORS

Ooi Boon Leong

Age 77. Independent Non-Executive Director and Chairman. Appointed as Director on 9 September 2005. Chairman of the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee and a member of the Remuneration Committee. An advocate and solicitor. Holds a Bachelor of Arts, Bachelor of Laws, Master of Arts and Master of Laws, all from the University of Cambridge. The sole proprietor of Ooi Boon Leong & Co, a legal firm in Malaysia. Currently, he is a Director of Pan Malaysian Industries Berhad, Inter-Community Welfare Foundation and Malaysian Community & Education Foundation. He also sits on the Boards of Pacific States Investment Limited, incorporated in Channel Islands and Jacks International Limited, incorporated in Singapore and listed on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Ltd. He also holds directorships in private limited companies. Attended all the four (4) Board Meetings held during the financial year.

Wong Nyen Faat

Age 56. Non-Independent Non-Executive Director. Appointed as Director on 22 June 2011. A member of the Audit Committee. Holds a First Class Honours Bachelor's Degree in Science (Mathematics) with Education from University of Malaya and a Master's Degree in Business Management from Asian Institute of Management. He had served as Executive Director of Morning Star Resources Limited in Hong Kong. Currently, he is the Chief Operating Officer of the MUI Group and the Executive Director of Pan Malaysia Corporation Berhad. He also sits on the Board of Pan Malaysia Capital Berhad, Pan Malaysian Industries Berhad, Metrojaya Berhad, Laura Ashley Holdings plc and Corus Hotels Limited. Attended three (3) Board Meetings held during the financial year.

Dr Wong Hong Meng

Age 67. Independent Non-Executive Director. Appointed as Director on 4 October 2011. Chairman of the Remuneration Committee and member of the Audit Committee and Nomination Committee. Dr Wong Hong Meng, an economics graduate from the University of Malaya with an MBA from Cranfield School of Management, earned his degree of Doctor of Business Administration from the University of South Australia in 2007. Professionally he was a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountant in England and Wales. Currently he is a Chartered Accountant member of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants and an Associate of the Institute of Chartered Accountant and Administrators. For more than thirty years Dr Wong had held senior management positions in management consultancy, merchant banking, commercial banking and stock broking. In January 1999, he took early retirement from his employment career as Executive Director of TA Enterprise Berhad. After retirement he remained active in the business world and had served as an independent non-executive director and chairman of the audit committee of two companies listed on Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad. Currently he is an independent non-executive director and member of the Investment Committee of TA Investment Management Berhad and a director of Malayan United Industries Berhad, MUI Continental Berhad and Full Gospel Business Men's Fellowship Berhad. Attended all the four (4) Board Meetings held during the financial year.

Farizon binti Ibrahim

Age 57. Independent Non-Executive Director. Appointed as Director on 25 October 2011. Member of the Audit Committee and Nomination Committee. A graduate in Accountancy and Business Management Studies. She had worked with Tabung Haji Kuala Lumpur from 1980 to 1985 and was subsequently attached to Tabung Haji Saudi Arabia under the auspices of the Embassy of Malaysia from 1986 to 1992. She was appointed as the Councillor in the Haj Welfare Division in Tabung Haji Jeddah to assist pilgrims who need counselling during the Haj period in Saudi Arabia. She was also the Public Relation Manager of the Malaysian Women's Association Club of Jeddah. She handled the activities of the Club that includes public relation with various Governent, Corporate and other associations in Saudi Arabia. She also played an important role in the International Women's Association of Jeddah in the affairs of Welfare and Charity work. Formerly, she was the Chief Executive Officer of FDI Travel Services Sdn Bhd. Her exposure and experience in trade and travel began while working for the family-owned businesses. Currently, she is the Advisor for EL Wafa Travel Services Sdn Bhd. She also sits on the Boards of Pan Malaysian Industries Berhad, Pan Malaysia Capital Berhad and Metrojaya Berhad. Attended all the four (4) Board Meetings held during the financial year.

Note: -

Save as disclosed, none of the Directors has any family relationship with any Director and/or major shareholder of the Company.

None of the Directors has any conflict of interest with the Company nor have they been convicted of any offences within the past ten (10) years. All the Directors are Malaysians.

STATEMENT ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Board of Directors (the "Board") is committed to the principles of corporate governance set out in the Malaysian Code of Corporate Governance 2012 (the "Code").

The Board will continuously evaluate the status of the Group's corporate governance practices and procedures with a view to adopt and implement the recommendations of the Code wherever applicable in the best interests of the shareholders of the Company. The Board considers that it has generally applied the principles and recommendations of the Code.

Set out below is the description on the manner in which the Company has applied the principles and recommendations of the Code.

1. Board of Directors

1.1 Composition of Board

The Board is responsible for the overall performance of the Company and focuses mainly on strategies, performance, standards of conduct and critical business issues.

The Board currently consist of four (4) Directors:-

- One (1) Independent Non-Executive Chairman
- Two (2) Independent Non-Executive Directors
- One (1) Non-Independent Non-Executive Director

The Chairman of the Board is Mr Ooi Boon Leong, an Independent Non-Executive Director, a position held since 13 May 2010.

The Board complies with Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad ("Bursa Securities") Main Market Listing Requirements ("Listing Requirements") that requires at least two (2) or one-third (1/3) of the Board, whichever is higher, to be independent Directors.

The Board has reserved certain material matters for the collective review and decision by the Board. The roles and contributions of Independent Directors also provide an element of objectivity, independent judgement and check and balance on the Board.

Together, the Directors bring a wide range of business and financial experience for effective direction and management of the Group's businesses. A brief description of the background of each Director is presented on pages 6 to 7 of the Annual Report.

Mr Ooi Boon Leong also has been identified as the Senior Independent Non-Executive Director to whom concerns regarding the Company may conveyed.

The Board has established Board committees, which operate within defined terms of reference. These committees are:-

- Audit Committee
- Nomination Committee
- Remuneration Committee

The Report of the Audit Committee for the financial year ended 31 December 2013 is set out in pages 20 to 22 of the Annual Report.

Details of the Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee are set out in Section 2.2 and Section 2.3 respectively of this statement.

1.2 Independence of Directors

Recommendation 3.2 of the Code recommends that the tenure of an Independent Director should not exceed a cumulative term of nine years. However, upon completion of the nine years, the Independent Director may continue to serve the Board.

The Board will continually evaluate from time to time the independence of each of its Independent Directors. In this regard, the Board will be guided by the criteria set out in the Bursa Securities Listing Requirements.

1.3 Board Charter

The Board has established a Board Charter which prescribes, among other things, the roles of the Board, schedule of matters reserved for the Board's collective decision and a Code of Ethics and Conduct.

The Board Charter is subject to review by the Board from time to time to ensure that the Board Charter remains consistent with the Board's objectives, current laws and practices.

The Board Charter is available in the Company's corporate website.

1.4 Board Meetings

The Board meets at least four (4) times a year, with additional meetings convened as necessary. The Chairman is responsible for setting the agenda for Board meetings. Any Board member may, however, recommend the inclusion of items on the agenda. Such recommendations will be accommodated to the extent practicable. The agenda typically reaches the Board at least two (2) weeks prior to Board meetings. Board meetings are typically scheduled a year in advance.

Four (4) Board meetings were held during the financial year ended 31 December 2013. Details of the attendance of the Directors are set out in the Profile of Directors appearing in pages 6 and 7 of the Annual Report.

1.5 Appointments to the Board

The Nomination Committee has the responsibility to identify and evaluate potential candidates based on their skills, experience, knowledge, expertise and commitment to fulfill the role and responsibilities of the position before making any recommendation to the Board for approval of the appointment. The proposed appointment of each new director will be deliberated by the Board based on the recommendation by the Nomination Committee.

STATEMENT ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (Cont'd)

1. Board of Directors (cont'd)

1.5 Appointments to the Board (cont'd)

The Board has taken note of the recommendation in the Code pertaining to the establishment of board gender diversity policy. The Board recognizes the importance of boardroom diversity and aims to ensure diversity in its composition. The Board currently has one (1) female Director, namely Puan Farizon binti Ibrahim.

The Directors have direct access to the services of the Joint Company Secretaries who are responsible for ensuring that all appointments are properly made and all necessary information is obtained from Directors, both for the Company's own records and for the purposes of meeting the requirements of the Companies Act, 1965, Bursa Securities Listing Requirements and other regulatory requirements.

1.6 Re-election and Re-appointment of Directors

In accordance with the Company's Articles of Association, Directors who are appointed by the Board are subject to election by shareholders at the next Annual General Meeting following their appointment.

The Company's Articles of Association provide that at every Annual General Meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time being, or, if their number is not three or a multiple of three, then the number nearest one-third, shall retire from office and shall be eligible for re-election. The Company's Articles of Association further provide that subject to the provisions of any contract between a Managing Director and the Company, all Directors shall retire from office at least once in every three years and shall be eligible for re-election.

Directors over seventy (70) years of age are required to submit themselves for re-appointment annually in accordance with Section 129 of the Companies Act, 1965.

1.7 Directors' Remuneration

The Remuneration Committee will review the remuneration of the Directors and submits its recommendations to the Board for approval. The individual Director concerned will abstain from discussion of their own remuneration. Directors' fees are approved at the Annual General Meeting by the shareholders.

For the financial year ended 31 December 2013, the aggregate of remuneration of the Directors received from the Company categorized into appropriate components were as follows:-

	Fees	Otbers	Total
	RM'000	RM'000	RM'000
Non-Executive Directors	154	19	173

The number of Directors of the Company whose remuneration during the year falls within the respective bands are as follows:-

	Number of Directors			
Range of Remuneration	Executive	Non-Executive		
Below RM50,000	-	4		

1.8 Supply of Information

The Board has unrestricted access to information necessary for the furtherance of their duties.

The Board is also updated by the Joint Company Secretaries on new statutory and regulatory requirements concerning their duties and responsibilities from time to time.

Board papers are distributed to Board members prior to the meeting. Important matters that are reasonably expected to have a material effect on the price, value or market activity of the Company's shares may be discussed at the meeting without materials being distributed prior to the meeting.

All Directors have access to the advice and services of the Joint Company Secretaries and where necessary, in the furtherance of their duties, obtain independent professional advice at the Group's expense.

1.9 Directorships in Other Companies

In accordance with Bursa Securities Listing Requirements, each member of the Board holds not more than five (5) directorships in public listed companies. Prior to acceptance of any other appointment for directorships in other public listed companies, the Directors are required to consult with the Chairman to ensure that the acceptance of the new directorships would not affect their commitments and responsibilities to the Group. Any acceptance of new directorship must be notified to the Company immediately and the Board is informed on changes to the directorships held by the Directors at the following Board meeting.

1.10 Directors' Training

All Directors have attended and successfully completed the Mandatory Accreditation Programme prescribed by Bursa Securities. During the year, the Directors attended training that aids them in the discharge of their duties as Directors which included an in-house seminar on the subject of "Managing Effective Boardroom Dynamics & Board Evaluation Mechanism in Making A Difference".

All Directors are encouraged to attend various training and programmes and seminars to ensure that they are kept abreast on various issues related to business of the Group, governance, compliance, risk management and sustainability.

2. Board Committees

2.1 Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises exclusively of Non-Executive Directors, and majority are Independent Directors. The members of Audit Committee are as follows:-

Chairman	Ooi Boon Leong	- Independent Non-Executive Director
Members	Wong Nyen Faat Dr Wong Hong Meng Farizon binti Ibrahim	Non-Independent Non-Executive DirectorIndependent Non-Executive DirectorIndependent Non-Executive Director

The terms of reference, attendance of members at the Audit Committee meeting and activities of Audit Committee for the financial year ended 31 December 2013 are set out in Report of the Audit Committee in pages 20 to 21 of the Annual Report.

STATEMENT ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (Cont'd)

2. Board Committees (cont'd)

2.2 Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee comprises exclusively of Non-Executive Directors, and all are Independent Directors. The members of Nomination Committee are as follows:-

Chairman	Ooi Boon Leong	- Independent Non-Executive Director
Members	0 0 0	 Independent Non-Executive Director Independent Non-Executive Director

The functions of the Nomination Committee are:-

- identifying and recommending new nominees for the Board and Board Committees;
- annually assesses the effectiveness of the Board as a whole, the Board Committees and contribution of each Director on an on-going basis;
- annually reviews the mix of skills, experience and other qualities, including core competencies of nonexecutive Directors; and
- annually reviews the Board structure, size and composition.

The Nomination Committee has carried out the annual assessment for financial year ended 31 December 2013 and is satisfied that the size of the Board is optimum and there is an appropriate mix of knowledge, skills, attributes, diversity and core competencies in the Board's composition.

2.3 Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee comprises exclusively of Non-Executive Directors. The members of the Remuneration Committee are as follows:-

Chairman	Dr Wong Hong Meng	- Independent Non-Executive Director
Member	Ooi Boon Leong	- Independent Non-Executive Director

The primary duty and responsibility of the Remuneration Committee is to recommend to the Board the remuneration of Executive Directors in all forms, drawing from outside advice as necessary. Nevertheless, the determination of remuneration packages of Executive Directors is a matter for the Board as a whole and individual Executive Directors are required to abstain from discussion of their own remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee shall also recommend to the Board the remuneration of Non-Executive Directors. The determination of the remuneration of the Non-Executive Directors is a matter for the Board collectively.

3. Corporate Disclosure Policy

The Company aims to provide accurate and fair disclosure of corporate information to enable informed and orderly market decisions by investors in accordance with the requirements under the Bursa Securities Listing Requirements.

4. Relationship with Shareholders and Investors

In addition to various announcements made during the year, the timely release of quarterly interim financial reports provides shareholders with a regular overview of the Group's performance and operations.

Shareholders and members of the public can also obtain information on the annual and quarterly reports and the annuancements made by the Company by accessing Bursa Securities' website and the Company's corporate website.

Notice of the Annual General Meeting and the Annual Report are sent to all shareholders. At Annual General Meeting, shareholders have direct access to the Directors and are given the opportunity to ask questions during the question and answer session.

Shareholders and other interested parties may contact the Joint Company Secretaries for investor relations matter by writing or via telephone/facsimile as follows:

Postal Address : Unit 3, 191, Jalan Ampang, 50450 Kuala Lumpur Telephone number : 03-21487696 Facsimile number : 03-21445209

The Board encourages poll voting at general meetings.

5. Accountability and Audit

5.1 Financial Reporting

The Audit Committee is tasked to assist the Board in ensuring that the financial statements comply with Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards, International Financial Reporting Standards, and the requirements of the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia. The Board has the overall responsibility to ensure that the financial statements reviewed and recommended by the Audit Committee for the Board's approval are prepared in accordance with Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards, International Financial Reporting Standards, and the requirements of the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards, International Financial Reporting Standards, and the requirements of the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia so as to present a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group.

The Statement by Directors pursuant to Section 169 of the Companies Act, 1965 is set out in page 30 of the Annual Report and the Statement explaining the Directors' responsibilities for preparing the annual audited financial statements pursuant to paragraph 15.26(a) of Bursa Securities Listing Requirements is set out in page 15 of the Annual Report.

5.2 Risk Management and Internal Control

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the internal control system in the Group, covering not only financial controls but also controls relating to operational, compliance and risk management. The system of internal control involves each key business unit and its management, including the Board, and is designed to meet the business units' particular needs, and to manage the risks to which they are exposed. The system, by its nature, can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement, loss or fraud. The concept of reasonable assurance recognizes the costing aspect, whereby the cost of control procedures is not to exceed the expected benefits. The Board has established an internal audit function who reports directly to the Audit Committee. Details of the internal audit function is set out in Report of the Audit Committee in page 22 of the Annual Report.

STATEMENT ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (Cont'd)

5. Accountability and Audit (cont'd)

5.2 Risk Management and Internal Control (cont'd)

The Board recognizes that risks cannot be fully eliminated. As such, the Group has an Enterprise Risk Management ("ERM") framework in place to minimize and manage them. The Board has established a Risk Management Committee and guided by documented terms of reference and meetings are held regularly to deliberate on risk and control issues. Ongoing reviews are continuously carried out to ensure the effectiveness, adequacy and integrity of the system of internal controls and ERM framework in safeguarding the Group's assets.

Details of the Company's internal control system and risk management are set out in Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control in pages 16 to 18 of the Annual Report.

5.3 Relationship with the External Auditors

The Company's external auditors, Messrs BDO has continued to report to members of the Audit Committee on their findings which are included as part of the Company's financial reports with respect to each year's audit on the statutory financial statements. In doing so, the Company has established a transparent arrangement with the auditors to meet their professional requirements.

The Audit Committee met the external auditors twice during the financial year ended 31 December 2013 without presence of management to discuss on key concerns and obtain feedback relating to the Company's affairs.

The Audit Committee is responsible for reviewing audit-related and non-audit services provided by the external auditors. The Audit Committee has reviewed the provision of non-audit services by the external auditors during the financial year ended 31 December 2013 and concluded that the provision of these non-audit services did not impair the independence of the external auditors as the amount of the fees paid were not significant compared to the total fees paid to the external auditors.

The role of the Audit Committee in relation to the external auditors is set out in the Report of the Audit Committee in pages 20 to 22 of the Annual Report.

DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors are required by the Companies Act, 1965 to prepare financial statements for each financial year, which give a true and fair view of the state affairs of the Group and of the Company as at the end of the financial year and of the results and cash flows of the Group and of the Company for that period.

The Directors ensure that suitable accounting policies have been used and applied consistently, and that reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates have been made, in the preparation of the financial statements.

The Directors also ensure that Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards, International Financial Reporting Standards, and the requirements of the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia have been followed.

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records, which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Group and of the Company and to enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act, 1965.

STATEMENT ON RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

BOARD RESPONSIBILITY

The Board of Directors ("Board") is responsible for the Group's system of internal control and risk management and for reviewing the adequacy and integrity of the system. The system includes financial, operational, regulatory and compliance controls. This system is designed to manage, rather than to eliminate, the risks in the pursuit of the Group's business objective as well as to safeguard shareholders' investments and Group's assets. The system serves to provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against the risk of material misstatement, loss or fraud.

The Malaysian Code on Corporate Governance requires listed companies to maintain a sound system of risk management and internal controls to safeguard shareholders' investments and the Group's assets. The Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad's ("Bursa Securities") Listing Requirements require directors of public listed companies to include a statement in their annual reports on the state of their risk management and internal controls framework. The Bursa Securities' Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control: Guidelines for Directors of Listed Issuers ("Guidelines") provides guidance for compliance with these requirements. Set out below is the Board's Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control, which has been prepared in accordance with the Guidelines.

RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board confirms that an ongoing process for identifying, measuring and managing the Group's principal risks is in place. This process is carried out via the following risk management governance structure:-

- The Board is fully responsible for the risk management of the Group and has carried out its duties by having regular Board meetings to review and approve business strategies, risk management policies and business performance of the Group.
- The Audit Committee whose key function is to review the adequacy and effectiveness of internal control and governance systems of the Group. The Audit Committee's main role is to review, on behalf of the Board, the system of internal controls necessary to manage the key risks inherent in the business and to present its findings to the Board. The Audit Committee assumes its roles and responsibilities via the internal audit function.
- The Risk Management Committee ("RMC") whose key function is to review the adequacy and effectiveness of risk management of the Group. The RMC's main roles is to review, on behalf of the Board, the system of risk management necessary to manage the key risks inherent in the business and to present its findings to the Audit Committee. The RMC shall meet on a quarterly basis. Additional meetings may be called as and when required by the RMC. The membership of the RMC comprises of the Chief Operating Officer, the Chief of Staff of Chairman's Office, the Chief Financial Officer and the Head of Operations.

RISK MANAGEMENT PROCESS

Risks are reported and monitored at the operational level using the Risk Register which captures risks, mitigating measures and risk ratings. Where applicable, Key Risk Indicators ("KRIs") are established to monitor risks.

For risks that are material, the mitigating measures and KRIs are presented to the Management for review on a regular basis. Risks are reviewed and managed at each level of reporting and consolidated for review at the next higher level, before they are escalated for review at Group level.

High and new risk areas are immediately flagged and reported to the Audit Committee whose comments and advice are noted for the full Board's information.

TYPES OF RISKS

The principal business activities of the Group are operating hotel and investment. There have been no significant changes in the nature of these activities during the financial year.

The significant risk exposure faced by the Group during the financial year can be broadly categorized as follows:

Financial Risk

The risk of loss arising from:

- Recoverability of other receivables
- Impairment of investments

Operational Risk

The risk of loss arising from:

- Food quality and safety
- Quality of service and facilities
- Fire and safety
- Recoverability of trade receivables

Legal Risk

The risk of loss arising from:

- Non-compliance with statutory/regulatory requirements
- Legal suits and prosecutions

External Risk

The risk of loss arising from:

- Calamities and natural disasters
- Contagion

KEY ELEMENTS OF INTERNAL CONTROL

The key elements of the Group's internal control system, that are regularly reviewed by the Board and are in accordance with the Guidelines, are described below:-

- Establishment of a conducive control environment in respect of the overall attitude, awareness and actions of Directors and Management regarding the internal control system an its importance to the Group;
- Recruitment of experienced, skilled and professional staff with the necessary caliber to fulfill the respective responsibilities and ensuring that adequate control are in place;
- Clear Group structure, reporting lines of responsibilities and appropriate levels of delegation;
- Documented policies, procedures and limits of approving authorities for key aspects of the business. This provides

STATEMENT ON RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL (Cont'd)

a sound framework of authority and accountability within the organization and facilitates proper corporate decision making at the appropriate level in the organization's hierarchy;

- Establishment of segregation of duties via independent checks, review and reconciliation activities to prevent human errors, fraud and abuses;
- Regular and comprehensive management reports to the Board from various lines of operations and business units, on key business performance, operating statistics and regular matters. This allows for an effective monitoring of significant variances and deviation from standard operating procedures and budget;
- Group Internal Audit function independently reviews the risk identification procedures and control processes implemented by Management, and reports to the Audit Committee on a quarterly basis. The Group Internal Audit function provides assurance over the operation and validity of the system of internal control in relation to the level of risk involved using Risk-Based-Auditing methodology; and
- The Audit Committee regularly convenes meetings to deliberate on the findings and recommendations for improvement by the Group Internal Audit function, external auditors as well as regulatory authorities. The Audit Committee reviews the actions taken to rectify the findings in a timely manner, and to evaluate the effectiveness adequacy of the Group's internal control systems.

The Board has received assurance from the Chief Operating Officer and the Chief Financial Officer that based on the risk management and internal control of the Group as well as the inquiry and information provided, the Group's risk management and internal control system is operating adequately and effectively in all material aspects.

The Board is of the view that the risk management and internal control system in place for the year under review and up to the date of issuance of the financial statements, is adequate and effective to safeguard the shareholders' investment, the interests of customers, regulators and employees, and the Group's assets.

REVIEW OF THE STATEMENT BY EXTERNAL AUDITORS

As required by paragraph 15.23 of the Bursa Securities Listing Requirements, the external auditors have reviewed this Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control. As set out in their terms of engagement, the review was performed in accordance with Recommended Practice Guide 5 ("RPG 5") issued by the Malaysian Institute of Accountants. Their review has been conducted to assess whether the Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control is both supported by the documentation prepared by or for the Directors and appropriately reflects the process the Directors have adopted in reviewing the adequacy and integrity of the system of internal control for the Group. RPG 5 does not require the external auditors to consider whether this Statement covers all risks and controls, or to form an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's risk and control procedures. Based on their review, the external auditors have reported to the Board that nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe that this Statement is inconsistent with their understanding of the process the Board has adopted in the review of the adequacy and integrity of internal control of the Group.

OTHER INFORMATION

1. Utilisation of Proceeds raised from Corporate Proposal

The Company does not have any corporate proposal during the financial year ended 31 December 2013.

2. Share Buy-Back

The Company has not made any purchase, resale or cancellation of its own shares in the financial year ended 31 December 2013.

3. Options, Warrants or Convertible Securities

There were no options, warrants or convertible securities issued and exercised during the financial year ended 31 December 2013.

4. Sponsored Depository Receipt Programme

The Company did not sponsor any depository receipt programme.

5. Sanctions and/or Penalties Imposed

There were no sanctions and/or penalties imposed on the Company and its subsidiaries, Directors or management by the relevant regulatory bodies.

6. Non-Audit Fees

For the financial year ended 31 December 2013, non-audit fees paid and payable to the external auditors amounted to RM51,300 (2012: RM19,300).

7. Variation in Results

There was no material variances between the audited financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2013 and the unaudited results announced to Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad on 17 February 2014.

8. Profit Guarantee

There was no profit guarantee for the financial year ended 31 December 2013.

9. Material Contracts

For the financial year ended 31 December 2013, there were no material contracts entered into by the Company and its subsidiaries involving Directors' and major shareholders' interest, either still subsisting at the end of the financial year ended 31 December 2013 or entered into since the end of the previous financial year except as disclosed in the financial statements.

REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

MEMBERS

Name

Ooi Boon Leong *- Chairman* Wong Nyen Faat Dr Wong Hong Meng Farizon binti Ibrahim

TERMS OF REFERENCE

1. Constitution

The Audit Committee was established on 28 July 1994. The Board shall ensure that the composition of the Audit Committee comply with Bursa Securities Listing Requirements as well as other regulatory requirements.

2. Authority

- The Audit Committee is authorized by the Board to investigate any activity within its terms of reference. It is authorized to seek any information it requires from any employee and all employees are directed to co-operate with any request made by the Audit Committee.
- The Audit Committee shall have unlimited access to all information and documents relevant to its activities as well as to the internal and external auditors and senior management of the Group.
- The Audit Committee is authorized by the Board to obtain outside legal or other independent professional advice and to secure the attendance of outsiders with relevant experience and expertise if it considers this necessary.

3. Functions

The functions of the Audit Committee shall be:-

- to report to the Board after reviewing the following:-
 - (a) the audit plan with the external auditors;
 - (b) the evaluation of the system of internal controls with the external auditors;
 - (c) the audit report with the external auditors;
 - (d) the assistance and co-operation given by the employees of the Company to the external auditors;
 - (e) the adequacy of the scope, functions, competency and resources of the internal audit function and that it has the necessary authority to carry out its work;
 - (f) the internal audit programme, processes, the results of the internal audits, processes or investigation undertaken and whether or not appropriate action is taken on the recommendations of the internal audit function;
 - (g) the quarterly results and year end financial statements, prior to the approval by the Board, focusing particularly on:-
 - (i) changes in or implementation of major accounting policy changes;
 - (ii) significant and unusual events;
 - (iii) significant adjustments arising from the audit;
 - (iv) the going concern assumption; and
 - (v) compliance with accounting standards and other legal requirements;
- (h) any related party transaction and conflict of interest situation that may arise within the Company or Group including any transaction, procedure or course of conduct that raises questions of management integrity;
- (i) any letter of resignation from the external auditors;
- (j) whether there is any reason (supported by grounds) to believe that the Company's external auditors are not suitable for re-appointment;

Designation

Independent Non-Executive Director Non-Independent Non-Executive Director Independent Non-Executive Director Independent Non-Executive Director

- to recommend the nomination of a person or persons as external auditors;
- to consider the external auditors' fee and questions of dismissal;
- to discuss problems and reservations arising out of external or internal audits and any matters which the auditors may wish to bring up (in the absence of the Executive Directors and employees of the Group whenever deemed necessary);
- to review the external auditors' management letter and management's response; and
- to consider the major findings of internal investigations and management's response, together with such other functions as may be agreed to by the Audit Committee and the Board.

4. Meetings

During the financial year ended 31 December 2013, five (5) Audit Committee Meetings were held. Mr Ooi Boon Leong, Dr Wong Hong Meng and Puan Farizon binti Ibrahim attended all the five (5) meetings of the Audit Committee. Mr Wong Nyen Faat attended four (4) meetings of the Audit Committee.

In addition to the Committee members, the Head of Internal Audit and officer in charge of accounts are invited for attendance at each meeting. The respective head of companies/departments and their management team attend when audit reports on their companies/departments are tabled for discussion. The presence of the external auditors will be requested when required.

Upon the request of the external auditors, the Chairman shall convene a meeting of the Audit Committee to consider any matter the external auditors believe should be brought to the attention of the Board or shareholders.

5. Summary of Activities of the Audit Committee during the Financial Year Ended 31 December 2013

The Audit Committee reviewed and deliberated one (1) audit report on assignments conducted by the Internal Audit. The Audit Committee also appraised the adequacy and effectiveness of Management's response in resolving the audit issues reported.

In addition, the unaudited quarterly interim financial reports and the audited financial statements of the Company and the Group were reviewed by the Audit Committee prior to recommending the same for approval by the Board, upon being satisfied that the financial reporting and disclosure requirements of the relevant authorities had been complied with.

The Audit Committee met with the external auditors and discussed the nature and scope of the audit, considered any significant changes in accounting and auditing issues, reviewed audit issues and concerns affecting the financial statements of the Group and discussed applicable accounting and auditing standards that may have significant implication on the Group's financial statements. The Audit Committee also reviewed related party transactions carried out by the Group.

The Audit Committee reviewed and approved the Internal Audit Plan for the calendar year 2014. In its review of the Internal Audit Plan, the Audit Committee reviewed the scope and coverage over the activities of the respective business units of the Group.

REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE (Cont'd)

The internal audit function is performed by the Internal Audit Department of Malayan United Management Sdn Bhd, a company under the MUI Group of companies; together with co-source services from external accounting firm. Both are independent of the activities audited. The function is performed with impartiality, proficiency and due professional care. The Internal Audit Department reports directly to the Audit Committee, and regularly reviews and appraises the Group's key operations to ensure that key risk and control concerns are being effectively managed. Its activities include:

- reviewing the effectiveness of risk management and internal control,
- appraising the adequacy and integrity of internal controls and management information systems,
- ascertaining the effectiveness of management in identifying principal risks and to manage such risks through appropriate systems of internal control,
- recommending improvements to existing systems of internal control,
- ascertaining the level of compliance with the Group's plans, policies, procedures and adherence to laws and regulations,
- appraising the effectiveness of administrative controls applied and the reliability and integrity of data that are produced within the Group,
- ascertaining the adequacy of controls for safeguarding the Group's assets from losses of all kinds,
- performing follow-up reviews of previous audit reports to ensure appropriate actions are implemented to address control issues highlighted, and
- conducting special reviews or investigations requested by senior management or by the Audit Committee.

The Internal Audit carries out audit assignments based on risk-based audit plan that is reviewed and approved by the Audit Committee. The reports of the audits undertaken were presented to the Audit Committee and forwarded to the management concerned for attention and necessary action.

The cost incurred for the internal audit function for the financial year ended 31 December 2013 is RM33,900 (2012: RM14,800).

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

On behalf of the Board of Directors, I present herewith the Annual Report and financial statements of our Company and the Group for the financial year ended 31 December 2013.

ECONOMIC REVIEW

According to Bank Negara Malaysia ("BNM") in its 2013 Annual Report, real gross domestic product ("GDP") of Malaysia recorded a lower growth rate of 4.7% in 2013 compared with 5.6% in 2012. Economic growth was attributed to resilient domestic demand and improving exports in the second half of the year.

The FTSE Bursa Malaysia KLCI ("FBM KLCI") started the year on a positive note in tandem with international markets after the government of the United States of America ("USA") passed a budget bill to avert the "fiscal cliff". However, the rally was short-lived as the combination of speculation on dissolution of Parliament for the 13th General Election, possibility tapering of Quantitative Easing by the USA Federal Reserve and the Cyprus debt situation dampened market sentiments in the subsequent months.

The FBM KLCI declined to an intra-day year low of 1,597 in early February before staging a post general election breakout rally in May and sustained at higher level for the remaining of the year. The FBM KLCI closed at 1,867 on 31 December 2013 with a gain of 10.5% for the year.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHT'S

For the year ended 31 December 2013, Group revenue increased 4.4% to RM11.6 million, from RM11.1 million in 2012. This was primarily due to higher average room rates at Corus Paradise Resort Port Dickson ("Corus PD"). However, despite the growth in revenue, the Group recorded a loss before tax ("LBT") of RM10.3 million compared to LBT of RM39.3 million in 2012. This was due to lower impairment charge that was taken by our associate company Pan Malaysia Capital Berhad ("PM Capital") on the intangible assets of PM Securities Sdn Bhd ("PM Securities") to reflect the fair value of its stockbroking business.

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

Pan Malaysia Holdings Berhad is involved in the hospitality industry through its wholly-owned beachfront hotel, Corus PD, and financial services through its associate, PM Capital which has a stockbroking subsidiary, PM Securities, and a fund management unit, PCB Asset Management Sdn Bhd ("PCB Asset Management").

Corus PD is one of the established hotels on Port Dickson beach. The well-located hotel achieved revenue growth of 4.4% to RM11.6 million in the year under review due to better yield management and higher average room rates over the previous year.

PM Securities, for the year under review reported a 27.4% increase in revenue to RM20.9 million in the year under review compared to the previous year. This was due to positive market sentiments and an increase in its margin portfolio.

Despite achieving a commendable growth in revenue, PM Securities recorded a LBT of RM17.1 million following a further impairment of its intangible assets of RM17.0 million during the year under review. A similar impairment of RM180.4 million was made in the previous year. The provision of impairment charge is to reflect the fair value of its stockbroking business and has no impact on the cash flow of PM Securities or PM Capital. Without RM17.0 million for the impairment charge, PM Securities would have reported a LBT of RM0.1 million from the recovery of bad debts, processing fees and interest earned from margin and IPO financing.

PCB Asset Management is a wholly-owned fund management subsidiary of PM Capital. During the year under review, PCB Asset Management recorded an increase in funds under its management from the previous year.

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

In July 2013, Corus PD organised a charity event to break fast with children from Pertubuhan Anak Yatim Al-Khir. All the invitees enjoyed the event held at Dickson Coffee House with a full spread of food at the buffet counter. Invitees together with children from the orphanage continued a separate section of performing prayers at the surau. This event promoted caring for the less fortunate children.

PROSPECTS FOR 2014

According to BNM, Malaysia's real GDP is projected to grow between 4.5% and 5.5% in 2014. BNM expects economic growth to be driven by sustained domestic demand and an improving external environment.

The Group will continue to be prudent in its risk management while focusing on business development and productivity improvement in its two core businesses.

PM Securities has put in place strategies to improve its financial performance. Among the strategies, PM Securities plans to rationalise its branch network, enlarge its team of dealer's representatives, participate more actively in IPO financing, debt capital market, increase the use of margin financing and at the same time tightening its internal control procedures.

The Group will undertake initiatives to further improve Corus PD's occupancy rate and average room rate in order to meet customers' expectation and maintain market share.

The Group expects the business environment for the next financial year to be challenging.

DIRECTORATE

There was no change to the composition of the Board in the past year.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

On behalf of the Board, I wish to take this opportunity to thank our customers, shareholders, bankers and financial instituions and business associates for their continued support. I would also like to express my appreciation to the management and staff of the Group for their contributions, dedication and commitment. Last but not least, I wish to record my sincere gratitude to my fellow directors for their invaluable counsel and contributions.

Mr Ooi Boon Leong Chairman

9 May 2014

GROUP FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

	2013	2012	2011	2010	2009
KEY RESULTS (RM'000)					
Revenue	11,605	11,116	12,119	17,515	18,252
Operating (loss)/profit (EBITDA)	(6,632)	(36,498)	4,654	6,884	10,064
(Loss)/Profit before tax	(10,262)	(39,331)	1,439	3,264	5,912
Net (loss)/Profit attributable to owners of the Company	(10,333)	(39,325)	1,424	3,291	5,908
OTHER KEY DATA (RM'000)					
Total assets	85,310	95,134	137,263	140,928	144,288
Total liabilities	25,257	24,541	27,548	32,910	39,662
Share Capital (Ordinary shares of RM0.10 each)	92,887	92,887	92,887	92,887	92,887
Equity attributable to owners of the Company	60,053	70,593	109,715	107,896	104,461
Total equity	60,053	70,593	109,715	108,018	104,626
Total borrowings	19,781	20,300	23,140	28,105	33,051
FINANCIAL RATIOS					
Operating (loss)/profit margin (%)	(57.15)	(328.34)	38.40	39.30	55.14
Current ratio (times)	13.12	5.90	5.01	3.78	6.13
Gearing ratio (times)	0.33	0.29	0.21	0.26	0.32
SHARE INFORMATION					
Basic (loss)/earnings per share (sen)	(1.11)	(4.23)	0.15	0.35	0.64
Net assets per share attributable to owners of the Company (RM)	0.06	0.08	0.12	0.12	0.11

DIRECTORS' REPORT

For the year ended 31 December 2013

The Directors hereby submit their report and the audited financial statements of the Group and of the Company for the financial year ended 31 December 2013.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal activities of the subsidiaries are set out in Note 8 to the financial statements. There have been no significant changes in the nature of these activities during the financial year.

RESULTS

	Group RM'000	Company RM'000
Loss for the financial year	(10,333)	(9,038)

DIVIDEND

No dividend has been paid, declared or proposed by the Company since the end of the previous financial year. The Directors do not recommend the payment of any final dividend in respect of the financial year ended 31 December 2013.

RESERVES AND PROVISIONS

There were no material transfers to or from reserves or provisions during the financial year other than those disclosed in the financial statements.

ISSUE OF SHARES AND DEBENTURES

The Company has not issued any new shares or debentures during the financial year.

OPTIONS GRANTED OVER UNISSUED SHARES

No options were granted to any person to take up unissued shares of the Company during the financial year.

DIRECTORS

The Directors who have held for office since the date of the last report are:

Ooi Boon Leong, Chairman Wong Nyen Faat Dr Wong Hong Meng Farizon Binti Ibrahim

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS

None of the Directors holding office at the end of the financial year held any beneficial interests in the ordinary shares of the Company and of its related corporations during the financial year ended 31 December 2013 as recorded in the Register of Directors' Shareholdings kept by the Company under Section 134 of the Companies Act, 1965.

DIRECTORS' BENEFITS

Since the end of the previous financial year, none of the Directors have received or become entitled to receive any benefit (other than a benefit included in the aggregate amount of emoluments received or due and receivable by the Directors as shown in the financial statements) by reason of a contract made by the Company or a related corporation with the Director or with a firm of which the Director is a member, or with a company in which the Director has a substantial financial interest other than remuneration received by certain Directors as directors/executives of related corporations.

There were no arrangements during and at the end of the financial year, to which the Company is a party, which had the object of enabling Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.

OTHER STATUTORY INFORMATION REGARDING THE GROUP AND THE COMPANY

(I) AS AT THE END OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR

- (a) Before the statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and statements of financial position of the Group and of the Company were made out, the Directors took reasonable steps:
 - to ascertain that proper action had been taken in relation to the writing off of bad debts and the making of provision for doubtful debts and satisfied themselves that all known bad debts had been written off and that adequate provision had been made for doubtful debts; and
 - (ii) to ensure that any current assets other than debts, which were unlikely to realise their book values in the ordinary course of business had been written down to their estimated realisable values.

DIRECTORS' REPORT (Cont'd)

OTHER STATUTORY INFORMATION REGARDING THE GROUP AND THE COMPANY (continued)

(I) AS AT THE END OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR (continued)

(b) In the opinion of the Directors, the results of the operations of the Group and of the Company during the financial year have not been substantially affected by any item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature except for the effect arising from a legal suit settlement of RM1,013,000 recorded during the financial year as disclosed in Note 21(b) to the financial statements.

(II) FROM THE END OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR TO THE DATE OF THIS REPORT

- (c) The Directors are not aware of any circumstances:
 - which would render the amounts written off for bad debts or the amount of the provision for doubtful debts in the financial statements of the Group and of the Company inadequate to any material extent;
 - (ii) which would render the values attributed to current assets in the financial statements of the Group and of the Company misleading; and
 - (iii) which have arisen which would render adherence to the existing method of valuation of assets or liabilities of the Group and of the Company misleading or inappropriate.
- (d) In the opinion of the Directors:
 - (i) there has not arisen any item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature likely to affect substantially the results of the operations of the Group and of the Company for the financial year in which this report is made; and
 - (ii) no contingent or other liability has become enforceable, or is likely to become enforceable, within the period of twelve (12) months after the end of the financial year which will or may affect the ability of the Group and of the Company to meet their obligations as and when they fall due.

(III) AS AT THE DATE OF THIS REPORT

- (e) There are no charges on the assets of the Group and of the Company which have arisen since the end of the financial year to secure the liabilities of any other person.
- (f) There are no contingent liabilities of the Group and of the Company which have arisen since the end of the financial year.
- (g) The Directors are not aware of any circumstances not otherwise dealt with in the report or financial statements which would render any amount stated in the financial statements of the Group and of the Company misleading.

ULTIMATE HOLDING COMPANY

The Directors regard Malayan United Industries Berhad, a company incorporated in Malaysia and listed on the Main Market of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad, as the ultimate holding company.

AUDITORS

The auditors, BDO, have expressed their willingness to continue in office.

Signed on behalf of the Board in accordance with a resolution of the Directors.

Ooi Boon Leong Director Wong Nyen Faat Director

Kuala Lumpur 25 April 2014

STATEMENT BY DIRECTORS

In the opinion of the Directors, the financial statements set out on pages 33 to 108 have been drawn up in accordance with Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards, International Financial Reporting Standards, and the provisions of the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and of the Company as at 31 December 2013 and of the financial performance and cash flows of the Group and of the Company for the financial year then ended.

In the opinion of the Directors, the information set out in Note 32 to the financial statements on page 109 has been compiled in accordance with the Guidance on Special Matter No.1, Determination of Realised and Unrealised Profits or Losses in the Context of Disclosure Pursuant to Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad Listing Requirements, issued by the Malaysian Institute of Accountants, and presented based on the format prescribed by Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad.

On behalf of the Board,

Ooi Boon Leong Director Wong Nyen Faat Director

Kuala Lumpur 25 April 2014

STATUTORY DECLARATION

I, Deng Heng Fatt, being the Officer primarily responsible for the financial management of Pan Malaysia Holdings Berhad, do solemnly and sincerely declare that the financial statements set out on pages 33 to 109 are, to the best of my knowledge and belief, correct and I make this solemn declaration conscientiously believing the same to be true and by virtue of the provisions of the Statutory Declarations Act, 1960.

Subscribed and solemnly declared by the abovenamed at Kuala Lumpur in the Federal Territory on 25 April 2014.

Deng Heng Fatt

Before me:

P.Valliamah Commissioner for Oaths

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

To the members of PAN MALAYSIA HOLDINGS BERHAD

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the financial statements of Pan Malaysia Holdings Berhad, which comprise statements of financial position as at 31 December 2013 of the Group and of the Company, and statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, statements of changes in equity and statements of cash flows of the Group and of the Company for the financial year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information, as set out on pages 33 to 108.

Directors' Responsibility for the Financial Statements

The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of financial statements so as to give a true and fair view in accordance with Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards, International Financial Reporting Standards, and the requirements of the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia. The Directors are also responsible for such internal control as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors' Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on our judgement, including the assessment of risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the entity's preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the Directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and of the Company as of 31 December 2013 and of their financial performance and cash flows for the financial year then ended in accordance with Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards, International Financial Reporting Standards, and the requirements of the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT (Cont'd)

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

In accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia, we also report the following:

- (a) In our opinion, the accounting and other records and the registers required by the Act to be kept by the Company and its subsidiaries of which we have acted as auditors have been properly kept in accordance with the provisions of the Act.
- (b) We have considered the accounts and the auditors' reports of all the subsidiaries of which we have not acted as auditors, which are indicated in Note 8 to the financial statements.
- (c) We are satisfied that the accounts of the subsidiaries that have been consolidated with the financial statements of the Company are in form and content appropriate and proper for the purpose of the preparation of the financial statements of the Group and we have received satisfactory information and explanations required by us for those purposes.
- (d) The audit reports on the accounts of the subsidiaries did not contain any qualification or any adverse comment made under Section 174(3) of the Act.

Other reporting responsibilities

The supplementary information set out in Note 32 to the financial statements is disclosed to meet the requirement of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad and is not part of the financial statements. The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the supplementary information in accordance with Guidance on Special Matter No. 1, Determination of Realised and Unrealised Profits or Losses in the Context of Disclosure Pursuant to Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad Listing Requirements, as issued by the Malaysian Institute of Accountants ('MIA Guidance') and the directive of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad. In our opinion, the supplementary information is prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the MIA Guidance and the directive of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad.

Other Matters

This report is made solely to the members of the Company, as a body, in accordance with Section 174 of the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility to any other person for the content of this report.

BDO AF : 0206 Chartered Accountants

Kuala Lumpur 25 April 2014 **Rejeesh A/L Balasubramaniam** 2895/08/14 (J) Chartered Accountant

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

As At 31	December	2013
115 110 01	Duumour	2015

				December 2015
	Group		Company	
Note	2013	2012	2013	2012 RM'000
7	25,932	27,047	1	2
	-	-		649
	1,938	,	1,938	9,665
10	872	1,404	872	1,304
	28,742	38,116	3,291	11,620
11	417	501	-	-
12	1,455	1,892		23
13	-	-		11,228
14	52,766	53,221	52,766	53,221
4.5	10(105		
15			-	-
			-	
16 [1,785	1,288	22	23
-	56,568	57,018	57,773	64,495
=	85,310	95,134	61,064	76,115
17	92,887	92,887	92,887	92,887
18	495	702	495	688
l	(33,329)	(22,996)	(34,992)	(25,954)
_	60,053	70,593	58,390	67,621
	$ \begin{array}{c} 8 \\ 9 \\ 10 \\ 11 \\ 12 \\ 13 \\ 14 \\ 15 \\ 16 \\ 16 \\ 17 \\ 17 \\ 17 \\ 17 \\ 17 \\ 17 \\ 10 \\ 10 \\ 10 \\ 10 \\ 10 \\ 10 \\ 10 \\ 10$	2013 RM'0007 $25,932$ - 1,938 	NoteRM'000RM'0007 $25,932$ $27,047$ 89 $1,938$ $9,665$ 10 872 $38,116$ 11 417 501 12 $1,455$ $1,404$ 12 $1,455$ $-53,221$ 13- $-56,568$ 14 $52,766$ 105 15 126 105 16 19 $1,785$ 16 $56,568$ $57,018$ 85,310 $95,134$	Group 2013Comp 2012NoteRM'000RM'000RM'0007 8 9 1025,932 1,938 1,938 87227,047 - 480 9,665 1,4041 480 1,938 87210 11 12 13 14417 1,455 - 28,742501 3,291- 22 4,963 53,22111 12 13 14 152,766 15 16 16 17 16417 1,455 - 126 19 1,785501 1,404- 22 4,963 52,766 105 11 1,28812 13 14 16- 19 1,785- 22 2,29656,568 8,51057,018 95,13457,773 61,06417 1892,887 495 (33,329)92,887 702 (22,996)92,887 495 (34,992)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION (Cont'd)

		Group		Company		
	Note	2013 RM'000	2012 RM'000	2013 RM'000	2012 RM'000	
LIABILITIES						
Non-current liabilities						
Borrowings	19	19,709	13,640	-	-	
Deferred tax liabilities	20	1,238	1,238	-	-	
		20,947	14,878	-	-	
Current liabilities						
Trade and other payables	21	3,261	1,990	126	134	
Amounts owing to subsidiaries	13	-	-	2,548	2,471	
Amounts owing to associates	14	943	943	-	-	
Amounts owing to related						
companies	15	1	70	-	69	
Borrowings	19	72	6,660	-	5,820	
Current tax liabilities	L	33	-	_	-	
	_	4,310	9,663	2,674	8,494	
TOTAL LIABILITIES	-	25,257	24,541	2,674	8,494	
TOTAL EQUITY AND						
LIABILITIES	-	85,310	95,134	61,064	76,115	

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For The Financial Year Ended 31 December 2013

		Group		Company		
	Note	2013 RM'000	2012 RM'000	2013 RM'000	2012 RM'000	
Revenue	22	11,605	11,116	24	24	
Cost of services		(4,985)	(4,596)	-		
Gross profit		6,620	6,520	24	24	
Other operating income		208	518	-	504	
Administrative expenses		(1,609)	(1,336)	(488)	(577)	
Other operating expenses		(5,692)	(3,648)	(7,963)	(44,769)	
Finance costs		(2,062)	(1,823)	(611)	(546)	
Share of loss after tax of associates		(7,727)	(39,562)			
Loss before tax	23	(10,262)	(39,331)	(9,038)	(45,364)	
Taxation	24	(71)	6			
Loss for the financial year		(10,333)	(39,325)	(9,038)	(45,364)	
Loss attributable to:						
Owners of the Company		(10,333)	(39,325)	(9,038)	(45,364)	

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (Cont'd)

		Group		Company	
	Note	2013 RM'000	2012 RM'000	2013 RM'000	2012 RM'000
Other comprehensive income					
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss					
Fair value (loss)/gains on available-for-sale financial assets		(207)	203	(193)	203
Total other comprehensive (loss)/income, net of tax		(207)	203	(193)	203
Total comprehensive loss		(10,540)	(39,122)	(9,231)	(45,161)
Total comprehensive loss attributable	e to:				
Owners of the Company		(10,540)	(39,122)	(9,231)	(45,161)
Loss per ordinary share attributable to equity holders of the Company:		G	0		
Basic and diluted	25	Sen (1.11)	Sen (4.23)		

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

	For The Financial Year Ended 31 December 201.			
Group	Share capital RM'000	Available- for-sale reserve RM'000	Retained earnings/ (Accumulated losses) RM'000	Total equity RM'000
Balance as at 1 January 2012	92,887	499	16,329	109,715
Loss for the financial year Fair value gain on available-for-sale		-	(39,325)	(39,325)
financial assets, net of tax	-	203	ite	203
Total comprehensive income/(loss)	-	203	(39,325)	(39,122)
Balance as at 31 December 2012	92,887	702	(22,996)	70,593
Loss for the financial year Fair value loss on available-for-sale	-	_	(10,333)	(10,333)
financial assets, net of tax	-	(207)	-	(207)
Total comprehensive loss		(207)	(10,333)	(10,540)
Balance as at 31 December 2013	92,887	495	(33,329)	60,053

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Company	Share capital RM'000	Available- for-sale reserve RM'000	Retained earnings/ (Accumulated losses) RM'000	Total equity RM'000
Balance as at 31 December 2011	92,887	485	19,410	112,782
Loss for the financial year Fair value gain on available-for-sale	-	-	(45,364)	(45,364)
financial assets, net of tax	-	203	-	203
Total comprehensive income/(loss)	-	203	(45,364)	(45,161)
Balance as at 31 December 2012	92,887	688	(25,954)	67,621
Loss for the financial year Fair value loss on available-for-sale	_	_	(9,038)	(9,038)
financial assets, net of tax	-	(193)	-	(193)
Total comprehensive loss	-	(193)	(9,038)	(9,231)
Balance as at 31 December 2013	92,887	495	(34,992)	58,390

For The Financial Year Ended 31 December 2013

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

		For The Financial Year Ended 31 December 2013			
		G	roup	Company	
		2013	2012	2013	2012
	Note	RM'000	RM'000	RM'000	RM'000
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES					
Loss before tax:		(10,262)	(39,331)	(9,038)	(45,364)
Adjustments for:					
Bad debts written off	12	36	-	-	_
Depreciation of property, plant and					
equipment	7	1,568	1,010	1	-
Gain arising from dissolution of a					
subsidiary	8	-	(30)	-	-
Loss on disposal of other investments		85	-	52	-
Loss on disposal of property, plant and					
equipment		4	-	-	_
Impairment losses on:					
- investment in a subsidiary	8	-	-	169	-
- investments in associates	9	-	-	7,727	44,307
- other investment	10	16	-	16	-
- other receivables	12	174	-	-	-
Interest expense on term loans		1,636	1,823	407	546
Interest income		(9)	(30)	_	(3)
Inventories written off	11	60	7	-	-
Reversal of impairment losses on:					
- amounts owing by subsidiaries		-	-	-	(36)
- amounts owing by related companies		-	(58)	-	-
- other receivables	12	(8)	(90)	-	(3)
Share of results in associates	_	7,727	39,562	-	-
Operating profit/(loss) before changes in					
working capital		1,027	2,863	(666)	(553)
0 1		-,	1 ,000	(000)	(333)
Decrease/(increase) in inventories Decrease/(increase) in trade and other		24	(109)	-	-
receivables Increase/(decrease) in trade and other		235	259	1	(7)
payables		1,271	(50)	(8)	(413)
Cash generated from/(used in) operations		2,557	2,963	(673)	(973)
Tax refunded		11	1 4		. ,
Tax paid		11 (57)	14 (4)	-	
Net cash from/(used in) operating					
activities	_	2,511	2,973	(673)	(973)
	_				

For The Financial Year Ended 31 December 2013

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (Cont'd)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING	Note	Gro 2013 RM'000	2012 RM'000	Comj 2013 RM'000	pany 2012 RM'000
ACTIVITIES					
Dissolution of a subsidiary Repayments to ultimate holding	8	-	30	-	- *
company Repayments (to)/from related		-	(115)	- 1	(115)
companies Descriptions		(90)	903 324	(69)	(2)
Repayments from associates Interest received		455 9	324 30	455	324 3
Repayments from subsidiaries Proceeds from disposals of:		-	-	6,342	3,310
- other investments		224	-	171	-
- property, plant and equipment Purchase of property, plant and		3	-	-	-
equipment	7	(460)	(520)		
Net cash from investing activities	-	141	652	6,899	3,520
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES	•				
Interest paid		(1,636)	(1,823)	(407)	(546)
Drawdown of bank borrowings		19,781	-	(5,820)	-
Repayments of bank borrowings	-	(20,300)	(2,840)	(3,820)	(2,000)
Net cash used in financing activities	-	(2,155)	(4,663)	(6,227)	(2,546)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and equivalents cash equivalents		497	(1,038)	(1)	1
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of financial year	-	1,288	2,326	23	22
Cash and cash equivalents at end of financial year	16	1,785	1,288	22	23

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2013

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION

Pan Malaysia Holdings Berhad ('the Company') is a public limited liability company, incorporated and domiciled in Malaysia, and is listed on the Main Market of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad.

The registered office and the principal place of business of the Company is located at Unit 3, 191, Jalan Ampang, 50450 Kuala Lumpur.

The immediate and ultimate holding company is Malayan United Industries Berhad, a company incorporated in Malaysia and listed on the Main Market of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad.

The consolidated financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2013 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries and the interest of the Group in associates. These financial statements are presented in Ringgit Malaysia ('RM'), which is also the functional currency of the Company. All financial information presented in RM has been rounded to the nearest thousand, unless otherwise stated.

The financial statements were authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution by the Board of Directors on 25 April 2014.

2. PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principally activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal activities of the subsidiaries are set out in Note 8 to the financial statements. There have been no significant changes in the nature of these activities during the financial year.

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION

The financial statements of the Group and of the Company set out on page 33 to 108 have been prepared in accordance with Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards ('MFRSs'), International Financial Reporting Standards ('IFRSs'), and the provisions of the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia.

However, Note 32 to the financial statements set out on page 109 has been prepared in accordance with Guidance on Special Matter No. 1, Determination of Realised and Unrealised Profits or Losses in the Context of Disclosure Pursuant to Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad Listing Requirements, as issued by the Malaysian Institute of Accountants ('MIA Guidance') and the directive of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad.

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

4.1 Basis of accounting

The financial statements of the Group and of the Company have been prepared under the historical cost convention except as otherwise stated in the financial statements.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with MFRSs requires the Directors to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses and disclosure of contingent assets and contingent liabilities. In addition, the Directors are also required to exercise their judgement in the process of applying the accounting policies. The areas involving such judgements, estimates and assumptions are disclosed in Note 6 to the financial statements. Although these estimates and assumptions are based on the Directors' best knowledge of events and actions, actual results could differ from those estimates.

4.2 Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and all its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. Specifically, the Group controls an investee if and only if the Group has:

- (a) Power over the investee;
- (b) Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and
- (c) The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns.

If the Group has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

- (a) The contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee;
- (b) Rights arising from other contractual agreements; and
- (c) The voting rights of the Group and potential voting rights.

Intragroup balances, transactions, income and expenses are eliminated on consolidation. Unrealised gains arising from transactions with associates are eliminated against the investment to the extent of the interest of the Group in the investee. Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there is no impairment.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as that of the Company, using consistent accounting policies. Where necessary, accounting policies of subsidiaries are changed to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the other entities in the Group.

4.2 Basis of consolidation (continued)

Non-controlling interests represents the equity in subsidiaries that are not attributable, directly or indirectly, to owners of the parent, and is presented separately in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and within equity in the consolidated statement of financial position, separately from equity attributable to owners of the Company. Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the parent and to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income is attributed to non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group up to the effective date on which control ceases, as appropriate. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the financial year are included in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control until the date the Group ceases to control the subsidiary

Changes in the Company owners' ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions. In such circumstances, the carrying amounts of the controlling and non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interest is adjusted and the fair value of consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of the parent.

If the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or loss on disposal is calculated as the difference between:

- (a) The aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained interest; and
- (b) The previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling interests.

Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to the subsidiary are accounted for (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred directly to retained earnings) in the same manner as would be required if the relevant assets or liabilities were disposed of. The fair value of any investments retained in the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under MFRS 139 *Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement* or, where applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an investments in associates or joint venture.

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.3 Business combinations

Business combinations are accounted for by applying the acquisition method of accounting.

Identifiable assets acquired, liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured at their fair value at the acquisition date, except that:

- (a) Deferred tax assets or liabilities and liabilities or assets related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised and measured in accordance with MFRS 112 *Income Taxes* and MFRS 119 *Employee Benefits* respectively;
- (b) Liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based payment transactions of the acquiree or the replacement by the Group of an acquiree's share-based payment transactions are measured in accordance with MFRS 2 *Share-based Payment* at the acquisition date; and
- (c) Assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in accordance with MFRS 5 *Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations* are measured in accordance with that Standard.

Acquisition-related costs are recognised as expenses in the periods in which the costs are incurred and the serviced are received.

Any contingent consideration payable is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Measurement period adjustments to contingent consideration are dealt with as follows:

- (a) If the contingent consideration is classified as equity, it is not remeasured and settlement is accounted for within equity.
- (b) Subsequent changes to contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability that is a financial instrument within the scope of MFRS 139 are recognised either in profit or loss or in other comprehensive income in accordance with MFRS 139. All other subsequent changes are recognised in profit or loss.

In a business combination achieved in stages, previously held equity interests in the acquiree are re-measured to fair value at the acquisition date and any corresponding gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Components of non-controlling interests in the acquiree that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the entity's net assets in the event of liquidation are initially measured at the present ownership instruments' proportionate share in the recognised amounts of the acquiree's identifiable net assets. All other components of non-controlling interests shall be measured at their acquisition-date fair values, unless another measurement basis is required by MFRSs. The choice of measurement basis is made on an combination-by-combination basis. Subsequent to initial recognition, the carrying amount of non-controlling interests is the amount of those interests at initial recognition plus the non-controlling interests' share of subsequent changes in equity, if any.

4.3 Business combinations (continued)

Any excess of the sum of the fair value of the consideration transferred in the business combination, the amount of non-controlling interest in the acquire, if any and the fair value of the previously held equity interest of the Group in the acquire, if any over the net fair value of the acquiree's identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill in the statement of financial position.

4.4 Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

All items of property, plant and equipment are initially measured at cost less any accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when the cost is incurred and it is probable that the future economic benefits associated with the asset would flow to the Group and the cost of the asset could be measured reliably. The carrying amount of parts that are replaced is derecognised. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of property, plant and equipment are recognised in profit or loss as incurred. Cost also comprises the initial estimate of dismantling and removing the asset and restoring the site on which it is located for which the Group is obligated to incur when the asset is acquired, if applicable.

Each part of an item of property, plant and equipment with a cost that is significant in relation to the total cost of the asset and which has different useful life, is depreciated separately.

After initial recognition, property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less any accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of the assets to their residual values on a straight line basis over their estimated useful lives. The principal depreciation rates are as follows:

Long term leasehold land	66 - 92 years
Buildings	2%
Office equipment	10% - 20%
Furniture and fittings	10% - 20%
Motor vehicles	20%
Plant and machinery	5% -10%
Renovation	10% - 20%

Freehold land has unlimited useful life and is not depreciated. Construction-in-progress represents renovation-in-progress and is stated at cost. Construction-in-progress is not depreciated until such time when the asset is available for use.

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.4 Property, plant and equipment and depreciation (continued)

At the end of each reporting period, the carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment is assessed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate that its carrying amount may not be recoverable. A write down is made if the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount (see Note 4.7 to the financial statements on impairment of non-financial assets).

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period to ensure that the amount, method and period of depreciation are consistent with previous estimates and the expected pattern of consumption of the future economic benefits embodied in the items of property, plant and equipment. If expectations differ from previous estimates, the changes are accounted for as a change in accounting estimate.

The carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised on disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. The difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount is included in profit or loss.

4.5 Leases

(a) Finance leases

Assets acquired under finance leases which transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the Group are recognised initially at amounts equal to the fair value of the leased assets or, if lower, the present value of minimum lease payments, each determined at the inception of the lease. The discount rate used in calculating the present value of the minimum lease payments is the interest rate implicit in the leases, if this is practicable to determine; if not, the incremental borrowing rate of the Group is used. Any initial direct costs incurred by the Group are added to the amount recognised as an asset. The assets are capitalised as property, plant and equipment and the corresponding obligations are treated as liabilities. The property, plant and equipment capitalised are depreciated on the same basis as owned assets.

The minimum lease payments are apportioned between the finance charges and the reduction of the outstanding liability. The finance charges are recognised in profit or loss over the period of the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining lease liabilities.

(b) Operating leases

A lease is classified as an operating lease if it does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership.

Lease payments under operating leases are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

4.5 Leases (continued)

(c) Leases of land and buildings

For leases of land and buildings, the land and buildings elements are considered separately for the purpose of lease classification and these leases are classified as operating or finance leases in the same way as leases of other assets.

The minimum lease payments including any lump-sum upfront payments made to acquire the interest in the land and buildings are allocated between the land and the buildings elements in proportion to the relative fair values of the leasehold interests in the land element and the buildings element of the lease at the inception of the lease.

For a lease of land and buildings in which the amount that would initially be recognised for the land element is immaterial, the land and buildings are treated as a single unit for the purpose of lease classification and is accordingly classified as a finance or operating lease. In such a case, the economic life of the buildings is regarded as the economic life of the entire leased asset.

4.6 Investments

(a) Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity in which the Group and the Company are exposed, or have rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the subsidiary and have the ability to affect those returns through its power over the subsidiary.

An investment in subsidiary, which is eliminated on consolidation, is stated in the separate financial statements of the Company at cost. Put options written over non-controlling interests on the acquisition of subsidiary shall be included as part of the cost of investment in the separate financial statements of the Company. Subsequent changes in the fair value of the written put options over non-controlling interests shall be recognised in profit or loss. Investments accounted for at cost shall be accounted for in accordance with MFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations when they are classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal group that is classified as held for sale) in accordance with MFRS 5.

When control of a subsidiary is lost as a result of a transaction, event or other circumstance, the Group would derecognise all assets, liabilities and non-controlling interests at their carrying amount and to recognise the fair value of the consideration received. Any retained interest in the former subsidiary is recognised at its fair value at the date control is lost. The resulting difference is recognised as a gain or loss in profit or loss.

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.6 Investments (continued)

(b) Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group and the Company have significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor an interest in a joint arrangement. Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is neither control nor jointly control over those policies.

In the separate financial statements of the Company, an investment in associate is stated at cost less impairment losses.

An investment in associate is accounted for in the consolidated financial statements using the equity method of accounting. The investments in associates in the consolidated statement of financial position is initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter for the post acquisition change in the share of net assets of the investments of the Group.

The interest in an associate is the carrying amount of the investments in the associates under the equity method together with any long-term interest that, in substance, form part of the net interest in the associate of the Group.

The share of the profit or loss of the associate by the Group during the financial year is included in the consolidated financial statements, after adjustments to align the accounting policies with those of the Group, from the date that significant influence commences until the date that significant influence ceases. Distributions received from the associate reduce the carrying amount of the investment. Adjustments to the carrying amount could also be necessary for changes in the proportionate interest of the Group in the associate arising from changes in the associate's equity that have not been recognised in the associate's profit or loss. Such changes include those arising from the revaluation of property, plant and equipment and from foreign exchange translation differences. The share of those changes by the Group is recognised directly in equity of the Group.

Unrealised gains and losses on transactions between the Group and the associate are eliminated to the extent of the interest of the Group in the associate to the extent that there is no impairment.

When the share of losses of the Group in the associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, the carrying amount of that interest is reduced to nil and the Group does not recognise further losses unless it has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on its behalf.

4.6 Investments (continued)

(b) Associates (continued)

The most recent available financial statements of the associate are used by the Group in applying the equity method. When the end of the reporting periods of the financial statements are not coterminous, the share of results is arrived at using the latest audited financial statements for which the difference in end of the reporting periods is no more than three (3) months. Adjustments are made for the effects of any significant transactions or events that occur between the intervening period.

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an associate, any retained interest in the former associate at the date when significant influence is lost is measured at fair value and this amount is regarded as the initial carrying amount of a financial asset. The difference between the fair value of any retained interest plus proceeds from the interest disposed of and the carrying amount of the investment at the date when equity method is discontinued is recognised in the profit or loss.

When the interest of the Group in an associate decreases but does not result in a loss of significant influence, any retained interest is not re-measured. Any gain or loss arising from the decrease in interest is recognised in profit or loss. Any gains or losses previously recognised in other comprehensive income are also reclassified proportionately to the profit or loss if that gain or loss would be required to be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities.

4.7 Impairment of non-financial assets

The carrying amount of assets, except for financial assets (excluding investments in subsidiaries and associates) and inventories, are reviewed at the end of each reporting period to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, the asset's recoverable amount is estimated.

The recoverable amount of an asset is estimated for an individual asset. Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of the individual asset, the impairment test is carried out on the cash generating unit ('CGU') to which the asset belongs.

The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the higher of its fair value less cost to sell and its value in use.

In estimating the value in use, the estimated future cash inflows and outflows to be derived from continuing use of the asset and from its ultimate disposal are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the future cash flow estimates have not been adjusted. An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss when the carrying amount of the asset or the CGU, exceeds the recoverable amount of the asset or the CGU.

The impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss immediately.

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.7 Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset's carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

Such reversals are recognised as income immediately in profit or loss.

4.8 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Cost is determined on a weighted average method. The cost comprises all costs of purchase plus other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present condition and location.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

4.9 Financial instruments

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one enterprise and a financial liability or equity instrument of another enterprise.

A financial asset is any asset that is cash, an equity instrument of another enterprise, a contractual right to receive cash or another financial asset from another enterprise, or a contractual right to exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another enterprise under conditions that are potentially favourable to the Group.

A financial liability is any liability that is a contractual obligation to deliver cash or another financial asset to another enterprise, or a contractual obligation to exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another enterprise under conditions that are potentially unfavourable to the Group.

Financial instruments are recognised on the statement of financial position when the Group has become a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. At initial recognition, a financial instrument is recognised at fair value plus, in the case of a financial instrument not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issuance of the financial instrument.

An embedded derivative is separated from the host contract and accounted for as a derivative if, and only if the economic characteristics and risks of the embedded derivative is not closely related to the economic characteristics and risks of the host contract, a separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded derivative meets the definition of a derivative, and the hybrid instrument is not measured at fair value through profit or loss.

4.9 Financial instruments (continued)

(a) Financial assets

A financial asset is classified into the following four (4) categories after initial recognition for the purpose of subsequent measurement:

(i) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss comprise financial assets that are held for trading (i.e. financial assets acquired principally for the purpose of resale in the near term), derivatives (both, freestanding and embedded) and financial assets that were specifically designated into this classification upon initial recognition.

Subsequent to initial recognition, financial assets classified as at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value. Any gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of financial assets classified as at fair value through profit or loss are recognised in profit or loss. Net gains or losses on financial assets classified as at fair value through profit or loss exclude foreign exchange gains and losses, interest and dividend income. Such income is recognised separately in profit or loss as components of other income or other operating losses.

However, derivatives that is linked to and must be settled by delivery of unquoted equity instruments that do not have a quoted market price in an active market are recognised at cost.

(ii) Held-to-maturity investments

Financial assets classified as held-to-maturity comprise non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity that the Group has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity.

Subsequent to initial recognition, financial assets classified as held-to-maturity are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Gains or losses on financial assets classified as held-to-maturity are recognised in profit or loss when the financial assets are derecognised or impaired, and through the amortisation process.

(iii) Loans and receivables

Financial assets classified as loans and receivables comprise non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.

Subsequent to initial recognition, financial assets classified as loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Gains or losses on financial assets classified as loans and receivables are recognised in profit or loss when the financial assets are derecognised or impaired, and through the amortisation process.

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.9 Financial instruments (continued)

- (a) Financial assets (continued)
 - (iv) Available-for-sale financial assets

Financial assets classified as available-for-sale comprise non-derivative financial assets that are designated as available for sale or are not classified as loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments or financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

Subsequent to initial recognition, financial assets classified as available-for-sale are measured at fair value. Any gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of financial assets classified as available-for-sale are recognised directly in other comprehensive income, except for impairment losses and foreign exchange gains and losses, until the financial asset is derecognised, at which time the cumulative gains or losses previously recognised in other comprehensive income are recognised in profit or loss. However, interest calculated using the effective interest method is recognised in profit or loss whilst dividends on available-for-sale equity instruments are recognised in profit or loss when the right of the Group to receive payment is established.

Cash and cash equivalents include cash and bank balances, deposits with licensed banks, deposits and other short term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of three (3) months or less, which are readily convertible to cash and are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value.

A financial asset is derecognised when the contractual right to receive cash flows from the financial asset has expired. On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the carrying amount and the sum of consideration received (including any new asset obtained less any new liability assumed) and any cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised directly in other comprehensive income shall be recognised in profit or loss.

A regular way purchase or sale is a purchase or sale of a financial asset under a contract whose terms require delivery of the asset within the time frame established generally by regulation or marketplace convention.

A regular way purchase or sale of financial assets shall be recognised and derecognised, as applicable, using trade date accounting.

4.9 Financial instruments (continued)

(b) Financial liabilities

Financial instruments are classified as liabilities or equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement. A financial liability is classified into the following two (2) categories after initial recognition for the purpose of subsequent measurement:

(i) Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss comprise financial liabilities that are held for trading, derivatives (both, freestanding and embedded) and financial liabilities that were specifically designated into this classification upon initial recognition.

Subsequent to initial recognition, financial liabilities classified as at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value. Any gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of financial liabilities classified as at fair value through profit or loss are recognised in profit or loss. Net gains or losses on financial liabilities classified as at fair value through profit or loss exclude foreign exchange gains and losses, interest and dividend income. Such income is recognised separately in profit or loss as components of other income or other operating losses.

(ii) Other financial liabilities

Financial liabilities classified as other financial liabilities comprise non-derivative financial liabilities that are neither held for trading nor initially designated as at fair value through profit or loss.

Subsequent to initial recognition, other financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Gains or losses on other financial liabilities are recognised in profit or loss when the financial liabilities are derecognised and through the amortisation process.

A financial liability is derecognised when, and only when, it is extinguished, i.e. when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged or cancelled or expires. An exchange between an existing borrower and lender of debt instruments with substantially different terms are accounted for as an extinguishment of the original financial liability and the recognition of a new financial liability. Similarly, a substantial modification of the terms of an existing financial liability is accounted for as an extinguishment of the original financial liability and the recognition of a new financial liability.

Any difference between the carrying amount of a financial liability extinguished or transferred to another party and the consideration paid, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss.

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due in accordance with the original or modified terms of a debt instrument.

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.9 Financial instruments (continued)

(b) Financial liabilities (continued)

The Group designates corporate guarantees given to banks for credit facilities granted to subsidiaries as insurance contracts as defined in MFRS 4 *Insurance Contracts*. The Group recognises these insurance contracts as recognised insurance liabilities when there is a present obligation, legal or constructive, as a result of a past event, when it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits would be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

At the end of every reporting period, the Group assesses whether its recognised insurance liabilities are adequate, using current estimates of future cash flows under its insurance contracts. If this assessment shows that the carrying amount of the insurance liabilities is inadequate, the entire deficiency shall be recognised in profit or loss.

Recognised insurance liabilities are only removed from the statement of financial position when, and only when, it is extinguished via a discharge, cancellation or expiration.

(c) Equity

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group and the Company after deducting all of its liabilities. Ordinary shares are classified as equity instruments.

Ordinary shares are recorded at the nominal value and proceeds in excess of the nominal value of shares issued, if any, are accounted for as share premium. Both ordinary shares and share premium are classified as equity. Transaction costs of an equity transaction are accounted for as a deduction from equity, net of any related income tax benefit. Otherwise, they are charged to profit or loss.

Interim dividends to shareholders are recognised in equity in the period in which they are declared. Final dividends are recognised upon the approval of shareholders in a general meeting.

The Group measures a liability to distribute non-cash assets as a dividend to the owners of the Company at the fair value of the assets to be distributed. The carrying amount of the dividend is remeasured at the end of each reporting period and at the settlement date, with any changes recognised directly in equity as adjustments to the amount of the distribution. On settlement of the transaction, the Group recognises the difference, if any, between the carrying amount of the assets distributed and the carrying amount of the liability in profit or loss.

4.10 Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset is impaired at the end of each reporting period.

(a) Loans and receivables

The Group collectively considers factors such as the probability of bankruptcy or significant financial difficulties of the receivable, and default or significant delay in payments by the receivable, to determine whether there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans and receivables has occurred. Other objective evidence of impairment include historical collection rates determined on an individual basis and observable changes in national or local economic conditions that are directly correlated with the historical default rates of receivables.

If any such objective evidence exists, the amount of impairment loss is measured as the difference between the financial asset's carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial asset's original effective interest rate. The impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss.

The carrying amount of loans and receivables are reduced through the use of an allowance account.

If in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and it objectively relates to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed to the extent that the carrying amount of the asset does not exceed its amortised cost at the reversal date. The amount of impairment reversed is recognised in profit or loss.

(b) Available-for-sale financial assets

The Group collectively considers factors such as significant or prolonged decline in fair value below cost, significant financial difficulties of the issuer or obligor, and the disappearance of an active trading market as objective evidence that available-for-sale financial assets are impaired.

If any such objective evidence exists, an amount comprising the difference between the financial asset's cost (net of any principal payment and amortisation) and current fair value, less any impairment loss previously recognised in profit or loss, is transferred from equity to profit or loss.

Impairment losses in respect of unquoted equity instrument that is carried at cost is recognised in profit or loss and is measured as the difference between the financial asset's carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset.

Impairment losses on available-for-sale equity investments are not reversed in profit or loss in the subsequent periods. Instead, any increase in the fair value subsequent to the impairment loss is recognised in other comprehensive income.

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.11 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualified asset is capitalised as part of the cost of the asset until when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale are complete, after which such expense is charged to profit or loss. A qualifying asset is an asset that necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale. Capitalisation of borrowing cost is suspended during extended periods in which active development is interrupted.

The amount of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation is the actual borrowing costs incurred on the borrowing during the period less any investment income on the temporary investment of the borrowing.

All other borrowing cost is recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

4.12 Income taxes

Income taxes include all domestic and foreign taxes on taxable profit. Income taxes also include other taxes, such as withholding taxes, which are payable by a foreign subsidiary on distributions to the Group and Company, and real property gains taxes payable on disposal of properties, if any.

Taxes in the statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income comprise current tax and deferred tax.

(a) Current tax

Current tax expenses are determined according to the tax laws of each jurisdiction in which the Group operates and include all taxes based upon the taxable profits (including withholding taxes payable by foreign subsidiaries on distribution of retained earnings to companies in the Group), and real property gains taxes payable on disposal of properties, if any.

(b) Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised in full using the liability method on temporary differences arising between the carrying amount of an asset or liability in the statement of financial position and its tax base.

Deferred tax is recognised for all temporary differences, unless the deferred tax arises from goodwill or the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction which is not a business combination and at the time of transaction, affects neither accounting profit nor taxable profit.

4.12 Income taxes (continued)

(b) Deferred tax (continued)

A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits would be available against which the deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses and unused tax credits can be utilised. The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at the end of each reporting period. If it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits would be available to allow the benefit of part or all of that deferred tax asset to be utilised, the carrying amount of the deferred tax asset would be reduced accordingly. When it becomes probable that sufficient taxable profits would be available, such reductions would be reversed to the extent of the taxable profits.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes relate to the same taxation authority on either:

- (i) The same taxable entity; or
- (ii) Different taxable entities which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or recovered.

Deferred tax would be recognised as income or expense and included in the profit or loss for the period unless the tax relates to items that are credited or charged, in the same or a different period, directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax would be charged or credited directly to equity.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on the announcement of tax rates and tax laws by the Government in the annual budgets which have the substantive effect of actual enactment by the end of each reporting period.

4.13 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when there is a present obligation, legal or constructive, as a result of a past event, when it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits would be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

If the effect of the time value of money is material, the amount of a provision would be discounted to its present value at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability.

Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. If it is no longer probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits would be required to settle the obligation, the provision would be reversed.